FILED Court of Appeals Division III SUState of Washington 4/9/2018 10:45 AM COA NO. 34926-8-111

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DONALD ZACK, Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY

Yakima County Cause No. 16-1-01637-1

The Honorable Richard Bartheld, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Skylar T. Brett Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner

LAW OFFICES OF LISE ELLNER SKYLAR T. BRETT P.O. Box 18084 Seattle, WA 98118 (206) 494-0098 skylarbrettlawoffice@gmail.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Donald Zack, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Donald Zack seeks review of the Court of Appeals part published opinion entered on March 8, 2018. A copy of the opinion is attached.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The state has retroceded criminal jurisdiction within the bounds of the Yakama Reservation back to the Yakama Nation, except in cases involving "non-Indian defendants and non-Indian victims." Did the state lack jurisdiction over an alleged offense committed by Mr. Zack – who is Indian – on the Yakama Reservation post-retrocession?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Donald Zack has lived on the Yakama reservation in housing provided by the tribe for more than twenty years. RP 11. His mother and four brothers are all enrolled members of the Yakama Nation. RP 11. But Mr. Zack is 1/32 short of the one quarter of Yakama blood he would need to enroll. RP 11-12. He is, however, eligible to enroll as a member of the Muscogee Creek Tribe in Oklahoma. RP 12.

Both the Yakama Nation and Muscogee Creek Tribes have provided Mr. Zack with letters of Indian ancestry on numerous occasions in order for him to receive benefits that are only available to Indians. RP 12; CP 48. Mr. Zack has received medical and dental benefits through the federal Indian Health Services for his entire life. RP 15.

Yakama tribal police have arrested Mr. Zack in the past. RP 19. He has been previously housed in the tribal jail. RP 19.

Mr. Zack regularly participates in the cultural activities of the Yakama Nation. RP 15. He participates in treaty fishing with the tribe. RP 15-16. He has held jobs at the tribal casino. RP 16. The Yakama Nation recognizes him as an Indian. RP 16.

On September 10, 2016, Mr. Zack allegedly spat on a non-Indian corrections officer while he was being treated in a hospital located on the Yakama reservation. CP 69-70. The state charged Mr. Zack with third degree assault. CP 2.

Mr. Zack moved to dismiss the charge for lack of state jurisdiction. CP 3-12.

At the motion hearing, Mr. Zack argued that he was an Indian and that the state did not have jurisdiction to charge him with a crime occurring on the Yakama Reservation, pursuant to the Governor's

retrocession of jurisdiction back to the Yakama Nation, which became effective before his alleged offense. RP 20-25.

In response, the state did not contest that the offense had occurred within the boundaries of the Yakama Nation. RP 26-34. The state also did not present any evidence contesting Mr. Zack's testimony that the Yakama Nation and federal Indian Health Service recognized him as an Indian. RP 1-41; *See* CP *generally*.

Rather, the prosecution argued that the state retained criminal jurisdiction because Mr. Zack was not an enrolled member of the Yakama Nation and because the alleged victim was non-Indian. RP 26-34.

The trial court did not decide whether Mr. Zack qualified as an Indian for jurisdictional purposes. RP 39.

Instead, the trial court found that the alleged victim's status was the deciding factor in determining whether the state has criminal jurisdiction over Mr. Zack's alleged offense. CP 86-89.

This is because the Governor's proclamation retroceding partial criminal jurisdiction back to the Yakama Nation provided that "... the State shall retain jurisdiction over criminal offenses involving non-Indian defendants and non-Indian victims." CP 87. The trial court held that this language indicated that the state retains jurisdiction if *either* the defendant *or* the victim is non-Indian. CP 88.

The court found Mr. Zack guilty of third degree assault pursuant to a stipulated facts trial. RP 42-48; CP 72, 80-82.

Mr. Zack timely appealed. CP 73. Division III of the Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction in an opinion, which was published in relevant part. *See* Opinion.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- A. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that under the Governor's proclamation retroceding partial criminal jurisdiction to the Yakama Nation, the state only retains criminal jurisdiction over offenses on the Yakama Reservation if the defendant and victim are both non-Indian. This significant question of constitutional law is of substantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).
 - 1. Historical and Legal Background.

A state has no inherent criminal jurisdiction over any offense occurring in Indian Country. U.S. Const. Art. IV, cl. 2; Art. I, sec. 3, cl. 8; *State v Jim*, 173 Wn.2d 672, 678, 273 P.3d 434 (2012); *State v. Comenout*, 173 Wn.2d 235, 238, 267 P.3d 355 (2011); *Moe v. Confederated Salish & Kootenai Tribes of Flathead Reservation*, 425 U.S. 463, 481, 96 S.Ct.

1643, 48 L.Ed.2d 96 (1976); *Bryan v. Itasca Cnty., Minnesota*, 426 U.S. 373, 376, n. 2, 96 S.Ct. 2102, 48 L.Ed.2d 710 (1976).¹

In 1953, however, the federal legislature enacted PL 280, which permitted some states, including Washington, to assume civil and criminal jurisdiction over Indian Country. *Washington v. Confederated Bands & Tribes of Yakima Indian Nation* (*Yakima Indian Nation*), 439 U.S. 463, 471–74, 99 S.Ct. 740, 58 L.Ed.2d 740 (1979). This original version of PL 280 permitted assumption of such jurisdiction without the consent of the tribes that would be affected. *Id*.

In 1963, The Washington Legislature acted upon its authority under PL 280 to assume some civil and criminal jurisdiction over Indians and Indian Country within the state. *Id.* at 465-66; RCW 37.12.010. That assumption of jurisdiction, however, did not apply to "Indians when on their tribal lands or allotted lands within an established Indian reservation," except in the case of eight enumerated subject areas, unless the tribe requested full state civil and criminal jurisdiction. RCW 37.12.010.²

¹ Where there is no factual dispute as to the location of the alleged crime, the question of the state's criminal jurisdiction is a question of law, reviewed *de novo*. *Jim*, 173 Wn.2d at 678.

² The eight subject areas are: compulsory school attendance, public assistance, domestic relations, mental illness, juvenile delinquency, adoption proceedings, dependent children, and operation of motor vehicles. RCW 37.12.010.

The Yakama Nation did not request any state jurisdiction beyond that dictated by RCW 37.12.010. *Yakima Indian Nation*, 439 U.S. at 476; *See also; State v. Sohappy*, 110 Wn.2d 907, 909, 757 P.2d 509 (1988).

In 1968, Congress amended PL 280 to allow the federal government to accept retrocession of state jurisdiction in Indian Country that had been acquired pursuant to that statute. 25 U.S.C. 1323; Robert T. Anderson, *Negotiating Jurisdiction: Retroceding State Authority over Indian Country Granted by Public Law* 280, 87 Wash. L. Rev. 915, 945 (2012). The Secretary of the Interior may accept a state's request for retrocession, but is not required to do so. *Id.* at 945-46.

That same set of amendments prohibited states from assuming any new civil or criminal jurisdiction in Indian Country under PL 280 without the consent of the affected tribe. 25 USC 1326.

In 2012, the Washington Legislature passed a statute permitting Indian tribes to petition the Governor for retrocession of criminal and civil jurisdiction. RCW 37.12.160.

Later that same year, the Yakama Nation petitioned the Governor for full retrocession of all state criminal and civil jurisdiction within Yakama Indian Country. CP 35.

The Governor granted the retrocession petition in part and denied it in part. CP 35-37.

The Governor's retrocession proclamation (Governor's Proclamation 14-01) provides that the state returns criminal jurisdiction to the tribe "within the exterior boundaries of the Yakama Reservation" but that "the State shall retain jurisdiction over criminal offenses involving non-Indian defendants and non-Indian victims." CP 36.

The proclamation's preamble also contains the following clarifying provisions:

Whereas...the Yakama Nation... acknowledges that the state would retain criminal jurisdiction over non-Indian defendants...

Whereas, strengthening sovereignty and independence of the federally recognized Indian tribes within Washington State is an important priority for the State... CP 36.

Upon submission of Proclamation 14-01, Governor Inslee sent a letter to Assistant Secretary of the Interior for Indian Affairs, clarifying his intent regarding the scope of the criminal jurisdiction the state wanted to retrocede on the Yakama Reservation. He noted in this letter, however, that the power over final approval of retrocession rested with the U.S. Department of the Interior. Opinion, Appendix B, p. 1.³

³ Governor Inslee's January 27, 2014 letter is attached as Appendix A. It is also available online at: http://www.yakimacounty.us/documentcenter/home/view/941.

In the letter, Governor Inslee specified that he intended the proclamation to be read to retain criminal jurisdiction with the state in cases involving "non-Indian defendants *and/or* non-Indian victims," despite the fact that the language of the proclamation itself retained jurisdiction for the state only in cases with "non-Indian defendants and non-Indian victims." Opinion, Appendix B, p. 2 (emphasis in original); CP 36. The Governor asked the Department of the Interior to "make this clear in the notice accepting the retrocession Proclamation." Opinion, Appendix B, p. 2.

But the Department of the Interior denied Governor Inslee's request. *See* Opinion, Appendix C.⁴ Instead, the Assistant Secretary emphasized that the Department of the Interior was accepting retrocession as outlined by the language of the Governor's Proclamation, regardless of any extraneous statements of intent:

We understand the Proclamation to be the final product resulting from the formal government-to-government meetings [required by RCW 37.12.160]. We also believe that the Proclamation is plain on its face and unambiguous. We worry that unnecessary interpretation might simply cause confusion. If a disagreement develops as to the scope of the retrocession, we are confident that courts will provide a definitive interpretation of the plain language of the Proclamation. In sum, it is *the content of the Proclamation* that we hereby accept in approving retrocession.

.

⁴ Assistant Secretary of the Interior for Indian Affairs Kevin Washburn's October 19, 2015 letter is attached as Appendix B. It is also available online at: https://www.indianaffairs.gov/cs/groups/public/documents/text/idc1-031964.pdf.

Opinion, Appendix C.⁵

The Secretary of the Interior accepted retrocession as described in the governor's proclamation, effective April 19, 2016. Acceptance of Retrocession of Jurisdiction for the Yakama Nation, 80 Fed. Reg. 202 (Oct. 20, 2015).

2. Post-retrocession, the state does not have jurisdiction over criminal offenses within the Yakama Nation unless the crime involves *both* a non-Indian defendant *and* a non-Indian victim.

The jurisdictional question in Mr. Zack's case turns on the meaning of the phrase "criminal offenses involving non-Indian defendants and non-Indian victims" in the Governor's Proclamation 14-01. CP 36.

For the reasons set forth below, this court must construe that phrase to retain state criminal jurisdiction on the Yakama Reservation only in cases involving *both* a non-Indian defendant *and* a non-Indian victim.

As a general rule, "states lack criminal jurisdiction over Indians within Indian Country, absent federal legislation specifying to the contrary." *Comenout*, 173 Wn.2d at 238 (*citing* Cohen's Handbook of Federal Indian Law § 6.04[1], at 537 (2005)).

⁵ *See also*: Acceptance of Retrocession of Jurisdiction for the Yakama Nation, 80 Fed. Reg. 202 (Oct. 20, 2015) (declaring that retrocession has been accepted by the Department of the Interior as outlined in the Proclamation itself).

This is because the application of state law to Indians in Indian Country raises issues of sovereignty and "wholesale application of state law would diminish tribal autonomy." *State v. Yallup*, 160 Wn. App. 500, 504–05, 248 P.3d 1095 (2011).

Accordingly, it is a canon of Indian Law that treaties and statutes passed for the benefit of a tribe must be "liberally construed in favor of the tribe[]." *Jim*, 173 Wn.2d at 686 (*citing Bryan*, 426 U.S. at 392); *see also Montana v. Blackfeet Tribe of Indians*, 471 U.S. 759, 766, 105 S.Ct. 2399, 85 L.Ed.2d 753 (1985). "Doubtful expression" must be resolved "in favor of the Indians." *Jim*, 173 Wn.2d at 686.

In *Jim*, for example, the Washington Supreme Court held that an "in-lieu fishing site," which Congress had set aside for tribal fishing, qualified as a reservation held in trust by the United States. *Id.* at 688.

This holding stripped the state courts of criminal jurisdiction over Indian activities at the site. *Id.* Such a conclusion was necessary in *Jim* in order to comply with the canons of Indian law outlined above and because Indian tribes have "the greatest interest in being free of state police power." *Id.* (*citing Yakima Indian Nation*, 439 U.S. at 502).

These same considerations require this court to construe the Governor's Proclamation 14-01 in favor of the Yakama Nation, giving the

state criminal jurisdiction only over cases involving *both* a non-Indian defendant *and* a non-Indian victim.

Indeed, the trial court's interpretation (giving the state jurisdiction if there is *either* a non-Indian defendant *or* a non-Indian victim) would actually give the state broader criminal jurisdiction over Yakama Indians than it had before the retrocession proclamation was accepted by the Secretary of the Interior.

This is because, before the Governor's retrocession proclamation, only the defendant's status mattered in the determination of whether the state possessed criminal jurisdiction over an offense occurring within specified areas of the Yakama reservation. *See* RCW 37.12.010.

Accordingly, the state lacked criminal jurisdiction over all offenses involving Indian defendants occurring on the relevant areas of the reservation, regardless of whether the alleged victim was non-Indian. *See Sohappy*, 110 Wn.2d at 909 (under RCW 37.12.010, the state lacked criminal jurisdiction over an alleged assault committed by an Indian defendant against a non-Indian law enforcement officer).

Likewise, under the common law rule in place before the enactment of PL 280, the state possessed criminal jurisdiction for crimes committed in Indian Country only if *both* the defendant *and* the victim were non-Indian. *See Negotiating Jurisdiction*, 87 Wash. L. Rev. 928

(2012); See also People of State of N.Y. ex rel. Ray v. Martin, 326 U.S.
496, 66 S.Ct. 307, 90 L.Ed. 261 (1946); Draper v. United States, 164 U.S.
240, 242, 17 S.Ct. 107, 41 L.Ed. 419 (1896); United States v. McBratney,
104 U.S. 621, 26 L.Ed. 869 (1881).

Following the canon that "doubtful expressions" must be "liberally construed" in favor of a tribe, the governor's language retaining state jurisdiction in "criminal offenses involving non-Indian defendants and non-Indian victims" must be read as a return to the pre-PL 280, common law rule giving the state jurisdiction only over cases involving both a non-Indian defendant and a non-Indian victim. CP 36; *Jim*, 173 Wn.2d at 686; *Bryan*, 426 U.S. at 392.

Indeed, construing the proclamation – as the trial court did in Mr.

Zack's case – to grant criminal jurisdiction over any offense involving an Indian defendant and a non-Indian victim would give the state criminal jurisdiction over Indians on the Yakama Reservation in more cases than it had pre-retrocession.

Pre-retrocession, the state lacked jurisdiction over all offenses committed by Indians on trust and allotted land within a reservation, regardless of whether the victim was Indian or non-Indian. RCW 37.12.010; *Sohappy*, 110 Wn.2d at 909. Under the trial court's interpretation of Proclamation 14-01, however, the state would have

criminal jurisdiction over any offense committed by an Indian involving a non-Indian victim on the Yakama reservation. Such an interpretation runs afoul of the Indian Law canons of construction. *Jim*, 173 Wn.2d at 686; *Bryan*, 426 U.S. at 392.

Such an assumption of new state criminal authority via gubernatorial proclamation would also violate the requirement that any new assumption of state jurisdiction pursuant to PL 280 after 1968 may only be undertaken with the consent of the tribe. 25 USC 1326.

The rule of lenity compels the same result. Insofar as the language of the governor's proclamation is ambiguous, any ambiguity must be construed in favor of Mr. Zack. *See State v. Weatherwax*, 188 Wn.2d 139, 154, 392 P.3d 1054 (2017).

Additionally, this interpretation of the Governor's Proclamation 14-01 complies with the general rule that the word "and" is presumed to function conjunctively. *State v. Kozey*, 183 Wn. App. 692, 698, 334 P.3d 1170 (2014) (*citing State v. Tiffany*, 44 Wash. 602, 603-04, 87 P. 932 (1906)). As such, the proclamations retention of state criminal jurisdiction in cases involving "non-Indian defendants and non-Indian victims" functions only if both parties are non-Indian.

Finally, an interpretation of the proclamation's language to grant the state criminal jurisdiction only over offenses involving both a nonIndian defendant and a non-Indian victim complies with the preamble's language, recognizing that "...the Yakama Nation...acknowledges that the state would retain criminal jurisdiction over non-Indian *defendants*." CP 36 (emphasis added).

The jurisdictional issue raised by Mr. Zack's case turns on analysis of the measure of jurisdictional retrocession accepted or rejected by the Department of the Interior, not on the Governor's intent. United States v. Brown, 334 F. Supp. 536 (D. Neb. 1971); United States v. Lawrence, 595 F.2d 1149, 1151 (9th Cir. 1979); Oliphant v. Schlie, 544 F.2d 1007 (9th Cir. 1976), rev'd on other grounds sub nom. Oliphant v. Suquamish Indian Tribe, 435 U.S. 191, 98 S.Ct. 1011, 55 L.Ed.2d 209 (1978); Omaha Tribe of Neb. v. Vill. of Walthill, 334 F. Supp. 823 (D. Neb. 1971) (Omaha I), aff'd sub nom. Omaha Tribe of Neb. v. Vill. of Walthill, Neb., 460 F.2d 1327 (8th Cir. 1972) (Omaha II).

In *Brown*, for example, the defendants argued that the State of Nebraska had exclusive criminal jurisdiction because the resolution passed by the state legislature retroceding all jurisdiction on an Indian reservation

α.

⁶ Congress has authorized the federal government to accept (or reject) a state's request for retrocession of jurisdiction it assumed in Indian Country under PL 280. 25 U.S.C. 1323. President Johnson delegated that authority to the Secretary of the Interior by executive order. Executive Order 11435, Fed. Reg. 17339 (Nov. 23, 1968). The Secretary of the Interior, in turn, re-delegated the authority to the Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs. *See* 80 Fed. Reg. 202 (Oct. 20, 2015).

to the federal government was invalid under state law because it was never signed by the Governor. *Brown*, 334 F. Supp. at 538. Even assuming that the resolution was invalid under state law, the *Brown* court found that retrocession was still effective because it had been properly accepted by the Department of the Interior under federal law. *Id.* at 540-41. This was because of the federal government's plenary power over Indian affairs. *Id.* at 540. The *Brown* court also noted that any state authority in Indian Country was purely at the whim of the federal government. *Id.* Indeed, the federal government could have chosen to remove the state's criminal jurisdiction without any action at all on the part of state government. *Id.*

Similarly, the Ninth Circuit held in *Lawrence* that the Department of the Interior had properly accepted retrocession of state criminal jurisdiction on the Suquamish Reservation regardless of whether the Governor's proclamation of retrocession was proper under Washington State law. *Lawrence*, 595 F.2d 1149 (*citing Oliphant v. Schlie*, 544 F.2d 1007).

Even so, the Court of Appeals staked its analysis in Mr. Zack's case on an attempt to discern the *governor's* intent. *See* Opinion, pp. 5-7. But, the intent of state actors – and even the validity of their actions under state law – is inapposite. Instead, the question turns on the measure of retrocession accepted by the Department of the Interior. *See Brown*, 334

F. Supp. 536; *Lawrence*, 595 F.2d at 1151; *Oliphant*, 544 F.2d 1007; *Omaha* I, 334 F. Supp. 823.

Here, the Department of the Interior explicitly rejected the Governor's proposed interpretation of the retrocession proclamation by denying his request to memorialize it in the notice accepting retrocession. *See* Opinion, Appendix C. Instead, the Assistant Secretary accepted only the plain language of the proclamation. Opinion, Appendix C, p. 5. That plain language dictates against state jurisdiction over his alleged offense.

The Yakama Nation requested that the state retrocede all civil and criminal jurisdiction over the totality of Yakama Indian Country⁷, "both within and without the external boundaries of the Yakama Reservation." CP 35-36. But the state did not consent to retrocede any civil or criminal jurisdiction outside the boundaries of the reservation. CP 37.

Accordingly, the state agreed to the requested retrocession only "in part." CP 36.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals held that it had accept the state's proposed interpretation of Proclamation 14-01 in order to give

⁷ "Indian Country" includes land both within and outside of an established reservation. 18 U.S.C. 1151. Outside of a reservation, the term refers to dependent Indian communities as well as Indian allotments to which Indians still possess title and rights-of-way running through those allotments. 18 U.S.C. 1151.

effect to the words "in part." Opinion, pp. 8-9. The lower court's analysis

ignores the other portions of the Proclamation and is inaccurate.

This constitutional question is of substantial public interest and

should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

VI. CONCLUSION

The issue here is significant under the State and Federal

Constitutions in addition to being of substantial public interest because it

impacts almost every criminal case on the Yakama Nation. The Supreme

Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).