95792-4

RECEIVED
04
MAY 03 2018
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT NO.
COURT OF APPEALS NO. 34926-8-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DONALD ZACK,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC
Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney

DAVID B. TREFRY
Sr. Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #16050
Appellate Division
Yakima County Prosecutor's
Office
P.O. Box 4846
Spokane, WA 99220
(509) 534-3505
David.Trefry@co.yakima.wa.us

FRONDA WOODS
Special Deputy Prosecuting
Attorney
WSBA #18728
P.O. Box 40110
Olympia, WA 98504-0110
(360) 586-2644
FrondaW@atg.wa.gov

 ORIGINAL

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

V. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

This case involves ordinary issues of statutory interpretation, as applied to a gubernatorial proclamation. The Court of Appeals’ rejection of Zack’s interpretation of Proclamation 14-01 raises no constitutional question, and does not conflict with any decision from any court. The issue

decided by this case affects only the Yakama Reservation and is thus limited to the two counties where that particular reservation is located.

A. The Petition Identifies No Constitutional Question

Zack argues that this case merits review because the Court of Appeals' interpretation of Governor's Proclamation 14-01 raises a "significant question of constitutional law." Pet. at 4; *see id.* at 17. But the only constitutional provision Zack cites is the Privileges and Immunities Clause in Article IV of the United States Constitution. *Id.* at 4.⁵ That clause protects citizens of one state when they come within the jurisdiction of another. *See McBurney v. Young*, 569 U.S. 221, 133 S. Ct. 1709, 185 L. Ed. 2d 758 (2013). But this case involves the application of Washington State law to a Washington State citizen. *See* CP 10. The Yakama Reservation is part of the State of Washington, and its residents are Washington citizens. *See Yakima Indian Nation*, 439 U.S. at 469; *Iowa Mut. Ins. Co. v. LaPlante*, 480 U.S. 9, 18 n.10, 107 S. Ct. 971, 94 L. Ed. 2d 10 (1987); *Neah Bay Fish Co. v. Krummel*, 3 Wn.2d 570, 101 P.2d 600 (1940). Thus, the Privileges and Immunities Clause is not implicated here.

⁵ Zack also refers to "Art. I, sec. 3, cl. 8," but the reference is unclear. Pet. at 4. Article I, Section 3 of the United States Constitution is not involved in this case because it addresses qualifications and activities of United States Senators. Article I, Section 3 of the Washington Constitution provides that "No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." Zack raised a due process issue at the Court of Appeals regarding sufficiency of the evidence, but his petition does not seek review of that issue. *See Zack*, slip op. at 11.

The only substantive issue presented by this case is a state law question regarding the meaning of the governor's proclamation granting a partial retrocession of state jurisdiction.

B. Zack's Disagreement With the Court of Appeals' Interpretation of Governor's Proclamation 14-01 does not Warrant This Court's Review

Zack's remaining arguments disagree with the Court of Appeals' interpretation of Governor's Proclamation 14-01 and urge review based on his belief that the ruling below was error. The Court of Appeals' interpretation was proper and needs no correction from this Court. The issue meets none of the Court's criteria for review in RAP 13.4(b).

The issue in this case is the meaning of the sentence "The State retains jurisdiction over criminal offenses involving non-Indian defendants and non-Indian victims" in Paragraph 3 of Proclamation 14-01, the dispositive question being the meaning of the word "and." Pet. at 9; *Zack*, slip op. at 4. The Court of Appeals applied this Court's "[s]tandard rules of construction" to answer that question. *Zack*, slip op. at 10. It held that "the meaning of the word 'and' in this instance is 'and/or,'" because, "[i]n context, the word 'and' is used in a list and should be read in the disjunctive; to do otherwise would render the proclamation internally inconsistent and nonsensical." *Zack*, slip op. at 4-5. The Court of Appeals agreed with the trial court and construed Paragraph 3 to mean that the State retains

jurisdiction over two listed categories of criminal offenses—criminal offenses involving non-Indian defendants, and criminal offenses involving non-Indian victims. *See Zack*, slip op. at 8-10; CP 88; RP 38.

Zack argues at length that the Court of Appeals erred by looking at the governor's intent in issuing Proclamation 14-01, rather than the Department of the Interior's intent in accepting it. Pet. at 14-16. *Zack's* argument is inaccurate and irrelevant. In fact, the Court of Appeals considered the intent of both. The majority looked to the governor's intent, *Zack*, slip op. at 5-6, while the concurrence looked to Interior's intent. *Zack*, concurrence at 1. Both the majority and the concurrence agreed that the plain language of the proclamation precluded *Zack's* interpretation. *Zack*, slip op. at 10 ("Standard rules of construction simply preclude [*Zack's*] interpretation of the proclamation), concurrence at 1 ("I concur in . . . the majority's reading of the language in paragraph 3 of Governor Jay Inslee's Proclamation 14-01"). Thus, the error *Zack* claims does not exist.

Second, *Zack* contends that the Court of Appeals erred because it improperly ignored parts of Proclamation 14-01. Pet. at 16-17. According to *Zack*, the Court of Appeals should have construed the words "retrocede, in part" in Paragraph 3 to mean that the State retroceded *all* jurisdiction within the Yakama Reservation but kept it outside the Reservation pursuant to Paragraph 5. Pet. at 16-17. The Court of Appeals recognized that

Paragraph 3 cannot be read that way because the words “in part” plainly refer to retention of criminal jurisdiction *within* the Yakama Reservation:

Within the exterior boundaries of the Yakama Reservation, the State shall retrocede, *in part*, criminal jurisdiction over all offenses not addressed by Paragraphs 1 and 2. The State retains jurisdiction over criminal offenses involving non-Indian defendants and non-Indian victims.

(Emphasis added.) Applying “standard rules of construction,” the Court of Appeals interpreted Paragraph 3 in light of its language as a whole and in light of the rest of Proclamation 14-01. *Zack*, slip op at 8-10. Both the majority and the concurrence rejected *Zack*’s interpretation because it would mean that the state gave up *all* Public Law 280 jurisdiction within the Yakama Reservation, which would render the words “in part” meaningless in the context of Paragraph 3. *Zack*, slip op. at 8-9, *see* concurrence at 1.

Zack further claims the Court of Appeals erred because its interpretation provides the state with more jurisdiction than it had before retrocession. Pet. at 10-12. Those arguments and their analysis of case law are misdirected and reach the wrong conclusions because they ignore the distinction between fee land and trust land within the Yakama Reservation. The offense in this case occurred on fee or “deeded” land, *Zack*, slip op. at 10, land that is not “held in trust by the United States” within the meaning of RCW 37.12.010. The precedents of this Court and the United States

Supreme Court recognize that the State's assumption of jurisdiction under RCW 37.12.010 includes all offenses committed by or against Indians on fee land, including offenses by Indians against non-Indians. *Yakima Indian Nation*, 439 U.S. at 498 (under RCW 37.12.010, "State jurisdiction is complete as to all non-Indians on reservations and is also complete as to Indians on nontrust lands"); *Clark*, 178 Wn.2d at 25 ("Under RCW 37.12.010, the State has jurisdiction over crimes committed on fee lands within the borders of a reservation"). The Court of Appeals concluded that Proclamation 14-01 preserves state "jurisdiction to prosecute this assault against a non-Indian occurring on deeded land within the boundaries of the Yakama Reservation." *Zack*, slip op. at 10. That conclusion does not give the state more criminal jurisdiction than it already had, as *Zack* claims. Pet. at 12-13.

The cases *Zack* cites for that claim were about state criminal jurisdiction on trust lands, not fee (or "deeded") lands. Under RCW 37.12.010, as to offenses committed by Indians on trust lands within their own Tribe's reservation, the state assumed jurisdiction only in eight subject matter areas. *Yakima Indian Nation*, 439 U.S. at 469. In the cases *Zack* cites, the State lacked jurisdiction to prosecute because the offenses occurred on reservation trust lands and were not within those subject matter areas. See *State v. Jim*, 173 Wn.2d 672, 680, 273 P.3d 434 (2012) (Treaty

Fishing Access Site was “an established Indian reservation and held in trust by the United States” within the meaning of RCW 37.12.010, thus state lacked jurisdiction to prosecute Yakama Indian for fishing violation); *State v. Sohappy*, 110 Wn.2d 907, 909-10, 757 P.2d 509 (1988) (in-lieu fishing site was land “within an established Indian reservation and held in trust by the United States” within the meaning of RCW 37.12.010, thus state lacked jurisdiction to prosecute Yakama Indian for assaulting non-Indian). Those cases have no application here because the offense in this case occurred on fee (or “deeded”) land. *Zack*, slip op. at 10.

Zack identifies no error in the Court of Appeals’ interpretation of Governor’s Proclamation 14-01. His disagreement with the result reached by the Court of Appeals does not make this a case worthy of this Court’s review.

C. This Case Meets None of the Remaining Criteria of RAP 13.4(b)

This case cannot have genuine statewide significance because it affects only a limited geographic area. The retrocession of state jurisdiction that the governor granted in Proclamation 14-01 applies only within the Yakama Reservation, which lies entirely within Yakima and Klickitat Counties. The decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals will not affect Divisions I or II because appeals from the courts of Yakima and Klickitat Counties must be filed in Division III. RAP 4.1(3).

The Court of Appeals' decision also affects only state court jurisdiction and has no effect on the jurisdiction of any federal or tribal court. The United States and the Yakama Nation are separate sovereigns whose criminal jurisdiction is independent of state jurisdiction. *See Confederated Tribes & Bands of the Yakima Indian Nation v. Washington*, 608 F.2d 750, 752 (9th Cir. 1979); *State v. Schmuck*, 121 Wn.2d 373, 394-95, 850 P.2d 1332 (1993).⁶

Although the geographic application of the Court of Appeals decision will be limited, the State agrees that the proper interpretation of Governor's Proclamation 14-01 is important. The Court of Appeals gave it its intended and clear meaning in a way that complements and does not displace the jurisdiction of either the Yakama Nation or the United States. The goal of retrocession is "ensuring that the best interests of the tribe and the surrounding communities are served." RCW 37.12.160(2). The Court of Appeals' interpretation provides the greatest flexibility for tribal, state, and federal law enforcement officials to pool their limited resources and work together to protect public safety for all residents and visitors within the

⁶ The United States Department of Justice has issued guidance to United States Attorneys stating that the United States' litigating position is that the United States has concurrent jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1152 and 1153 over Indian-country crimes that fall within Washington's Public Law 280 jurisdiction. U.S. Dep't of Justice, *Memorandum for United States Attorneys in "Optional" Public Law 280 States* (Jan. 18, 2017), available at https://turtletalk.files.wordpress.com/2017/01/oaag-80488-v1-optional_pl_280_memo_to_u_s_attorneys.pdf.

Yakama Reservation. Under Zack's interpretation, that flexibility would be lost, creating the risk that some crimes might go uninvestigated and unprosecuted, a result that does not serve anyone's interests.

This Court should reject Zack's attempt to turn ordinary statutory interpretation issues that affect a limited geographic area and a limited set of cases into an issue of substantial public interest. This case does not meet the criteria for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).⁷

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

///

⁷ Zack has identified no conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. Thus, this case does not meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

VI. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly construed the language of Paragraph 3 of Governor's Proclamation 14-01 to conclude that the State retains criminal jurisdiction under RCW 37.12.010 on "fee" or "deeded" land within the Yakama Reservation where either the defendant or the victim is non-Indian. Nothing in the decision conflicts with prior case law, raises a constitutional question, or involves an issue of statewide significance. Nothing in the Court of Appeals decision warrants further review. Accordingly, this Court should deny Zack's petition for review.